IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 92-2635

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,
vVer sus

RAFAEL REAL- GARCI A and
FERNANDO ALMESTI CA- COLLAZOQ,

Def endant s- Appel | ant s.

Appeals fromthe United States District Court for the
Southern District of Texas
(CR-H92-61-4)

(Sept enber 29, 1994)
Bef ore Judges GARWOOD, JOLLY, and STEWART, Circuit Judges.
E. Gady Jolly, Circuit Judge.”

The district court found the defendants Rafael Real-Garcia
("Real -Garci a") and Fernando Al nestica-Collazo ("Al nestica") guilty
of drug-rel ated offenses. The defendants appeal. They first
chall enge the sufficiency of the evidence that supports their
convictions, and second, they challenge an upward departure in

their sentences for obstruction of justice based on their use of

“Local Rule 47.5 provides: "The publication of opinions that
have no precedential value and nerely decide particul ar cases on
the basis of well-settled principles of |aw inposes needless
expense on the public and burdens on the legal profession.™
Pursuant to that Rule, the court has determ ned that this opinion
shoul d not be publi shed.



false identities fromthe tinme of their arrest through trial. W
affirm
I

Because the parties are challenging the sufficiency of the
evidence, we wil| address the facts of this case with sone detail.
The imediate events leading to the defendants' arrests are
significant.

On February 4, 1992, "Lisa" and her husband "Dennis," who were
cooperating with the Drug Enforcenent Agency ("DEA") began
negotiating with Shaul Danon, acting as a broker, to buy 15
kil ograns of cocaine. Dennis had bought cocai ne through Danon on
several previous occasions. On February 11, Danon arranged to sel
Lisa or Dennis ten kilograns of cocaine the next day. Danon
arranged to obtain the cocai ne fromFranci sco Medi na Laborda. They
agreed that Laborda would bring the cocaine to Danon's Houston
Texas, townhouse. The plan was to transport and deliver the
cocaine in tw cars--one car containing tw kil ograns and t he ot her
containing eight. The purchaser was to pay for and take delivery
of the two kilogranms first; if this transacti on went snoothly, then
the remainder of deal would be conpleted. Based upon this
i nformati on, the DEA began surveillance of Danon's residence on the
af t ernoon of February 12.

Danon arrived at his house about 3:30 p.m on the afternoon of
February 12. A friend of Danon's, M chael Cohen, arrived shortly

thereafter. Lisa arrived about 7:30 or 800 p.m, wearing a



conceal ed m crophone. A DEA agent waited for Lisa in her car while
Lisa went inside to talk to Danon. After Danon expl ained the
buyi ng procedure to Lisa, she returned to her car to await a signal
from Danon that the sale could be nmade. (Danon testified that he
kept the buyers and sellers separated to help themremain calm as
well as to ensure that the parties did not bypass him|[as broker]
in a future deal.) The sellers would arrive with 10 kil ograns.
They woul d deliver the first two kil ogranms; she would pay for
those and take delivery. Then the sellers would deliver the
remai ni ng ei ght kil ograns.

Around 8:00 p.m Laborda and the defendants arrived at
Danon's. Laborda drove a white, two-door O dsnobile. Real-Garcia
was his passenger. Al mestica drove a tan, four-door Chevrolet
sedan. Alnestica's Chevrolet was in the | ead. The cars drove past
the townhouse, and then took an imrediate right into a dead-end
al l eyway runni ng al ongsi de Danon's residence. After one to two
m nutes, the cars energed from the alleyway and stopped in the
m ddl e of the street near the townhouse. Al nestica got out of his
car and wal ked back to the O dsnobil e. Bot h Laborda and Real -
Garci a stepped out of the car and conferred with Al nestica briefly.
The parties returned to their respective vehicles and then parked
the cars a nunber of spaces away fromeach other in parking spaces
provi ded al ong the street for the townhouses.

The A dsnmobile, still driven by Laborda wth Real -Garcia as

passenger, parked briefly, then left the parking space and again



drove into the sane all eyway | ocat ed besi de Danon' s t ownhouse. The
car turned around, exited the all eyway once nore and stopped in the
m ddle of the street. Alnestica stepped out of his car and ran
over to the driver's door of the ddsnobile, had a brief
conversation with the driver, and then went back to his Chevrolet.
The O dsnobile then proceeded down the street and pulled into a
par ki ng pl ace near Danon's townhouse.!?

Laborda and Real-Garcia then exited the car and went into
Danon's residence. Laborda had not told Danon that a second person
woul d acconpany him however, Laborda assured Danon that Real-
Garcia could be trusted and was part of the deal. Laborda and
Danon talked briefly in the kitchen (away from Cohen and Real -
Garcia in the den). Laborda then went to the car and returned with
the first two kil ograns of cocai ne.

Danon next directed Laborda and Real -Garcia to go upstairs to
a bedroomso that he could signal Lisa on her pager to cone inside.
Lisa cane inside and inspected the cocaine. She told Danon that
she woul d return to her car for the noney for all 10 kil ograns. At
that point, the DEA and Houston Police raided the residence,
arresting Danon and Cohen downstairs, Real-Garcia and Laborda
upstairs, and Alnestica in his car wth the remaining eight

kil ograns of cocai ne.

1 At trial, a DEA agent testified that this conduct was
consistent wth counter-surveillance techniques used by drug
traffickers to ensure that they are not followed by authorities.



Real -Garcia and Alnestica falsely identified thensel ves at
that time. They even produced identification cards bearing their
respective aliases. The significance of the false identifications
w |l be discussed infra.

In addition to the 10 kil ograns of cocaine, various itens of
evi dence were seized. The police seized a pager from Al nestica,
whi ch had been acquired under the nanme of Viterbo Cedeno. The
police also seized a pager from Real-Garcia, which had been
obtai ned in the nane of Orlando Carbonell. Laborda was arrested in
possessi on of a nunber of itens, including an index card with nanes
and a code systemof letters on the opposite side of the card and
various business cards, including Danon's. The followng itens
were also seized from Real - Garci a: a Texas identification card
bearing the nane of "Rafael Real-Garcia," a paging conpany receipt
inthe name of Ol ando Carbonell, a letter addressed to "Servando,"
a handwitten list of names and nunbers, and two receipts from
West ern Uni on dated February 6, 1992, in the anount of $1, 000 each,
wired to the Dom ni can Republic by Cervando De La Cruz. The police
found on Al nestica a Texas identification card bearing the nane of

"Fernando Al nestica," several business cards with handwitten pager
nunbers, and a card bearing a prayer in Spanish and the nane of
“"Viterbo Cedeno."

The DEA anal yzed these various coded lists and cards filled
wi th aliases and found that Real - Garcia and Al nestica had i n conmon

fourteen pager and phone nunbers on their |ists. The DEA al so



found that Labordo had records of two nunbers in common with Real -
Garcia and Al nesti ca.

Danon, Labordo, Cohen, Real-Garcia, and Alnestica were
indicted and charged with drug-related offenses. The charges
agai nst Cohen were subsequently dropped. Prior to trial and
pursuant to a plea agreenent, Danon and Labordo pled qguilty to
their respective charges. Real -Garcia and Al nestica were each
charged with two counts of drug-related offenses: first, a
violation of 21 U.S. C. 88 846, 841(a)(1) and 841(b)(1)(A) (ii)--that
the parties did know ngly and unl awful |l y conspire, confederate, and
agree wth others to possess with intent to distribute in excess of
five kilograns of cocai ne, and second, a violation of 21 U S.C. 88
841(a)(1l), 841 (b)(1)(A(ii), and 18 U S.C. § 2--that the parties,
whil e aiding, abetting and assisting others, did know ngly and
unlawful |y possess with intent to distribute in excess of five
kil ograns of cocaine. Real-Garcia and Al nestica entered pl eas of
not guilty to these charges.

On May 27, 1992, a jury found Real-Garcia and Al nestica each
guilty on both counts. During the preparation of their pre-
sentencing investigation reports followng the trial, both Real -
Garcia and Alnestica revealed their true identities. Real-CGarcia
admtted that his true nane was Servando De La Cruz, and Al nestica
admtted that his true nane was Viterbo Cedeno-Alfonso. The
district court considered these m srepresentations when determ ni ng

t he def endants' sentences and i nposed a t wo- poi nt upward adj ust nent



for obstruction of justice under U S. S.G 8§ 3Cl.1. Wth a tota
of fense level of 34, the defendants were sentenced to concurrent
165-nmonth terns of inprisonnent under counts one and two, ordered
to serve concurrent five-year terns of supervised release, and
ordered to pay $100 i n mandatory costs. The district court inposed
no fines.

Both Real-Garcia and Al nestica appeal their convictions,
chal I engi ng the sufficiency of the evidence. Each al so appeal s the
upward departure in his offense |evel for obstruction of justice.
Addi tionally, Al nestica challenges the legality of the search of
his car.

|1
A

We first address Alnestica's challenge to the search of his
car. Al nestica argues that he was seized and his car was searched
W t hout probable cause, a warrant, or exigent circunstances. W
hold that his challenge is without nerit, and affirmthe district
court's denial of his notion to suppress.

An appellate court nust accept the district court's findings
of fact in a suppression hearing unless they are clearly erroneous

or are influenced by an incorrect view of the law. United States

V. Thomas, 12 F.3d 1350, 1366 (5th Cr. 1994). Furthernore, the
evidence nust be viewed in the |light nost favorable to the
prevailing party. | d. Clear error is denonstrated when the

reviewing court "is left with the definite and firmconviction that



a m stake has been commtted.” Anderson v. Cty of Bessener, 470

U S. 564, 573, 105 S.Ct. 1504, 1511 (1985) (quoting United States

v. Gypsum Co., 333 U. S. 364, 395, 68 S.Ct. 525, 541 (1948)).

We review de novo the district court's conclusion regarding

probabl e cause. United States v. Chappell, 6 F.3d 1095, 1100 (5th

Cir. 1993), cert. denied, us _ , 114 s.&. 1232, 127 L.Ed.2d
576, and cert. denied, u. S. , 114 S.C. 1235, 127 L.Ed.2d
579 (1994). "[P] robabl e cause to search an aut onobil e exi sts when

"trustworthy facts and circunstances wthin the officer's personal
know edge woul d cause a reasonably prudent nan to believe that the

vehicle contains contraband.'" United States v. Cooper, 949 F.2d

737, 745 and n. 26 (5th Gr. 1991), cert. denied, us _ , 112

S.Ct. 2945, 119 L.Ed.2d 569 (1992)(quoting United States v. Shaw,

701 F.2d 367, 376 (5th Cr. 1983)(internal citation omtted)).
Probabl e cause for a warrantless arrest, seizure, or search may
develop from information communicated to the arresting officers

fromtheir colleagues. See Chappell, 6 F.3d at 1100 and n. 18.

We concl ude that probable cause existed to search and seize
the Chevrolet. The authorities had reliable information that two
cars would be involved in the drug transaction, wth both cars
carrying cocaine. The two cars arrived at the sane tine, and it
was clear from the parties' novenents that they were acting
t oget her. Real - Garci a and Laborda exited their car and went into
t he townhouse where the drug transaction was to transpire. Then

Laborda returned to the A dsnobile, retrieved a bag, and carried it



i nside the townhouse. The informant subsequently identified the
contents of the bag as cocaine, and this information was relayed to
the authorities. Thus, a reasonably prudent person coul d concl ude
t hat because the first car had transported cocai ne, the second car-
-the Chevrol et--al so contai ned contraband.

Once a vehicle is lawfully stopped, any itemwi thin the plain
view of the officer is "subject to seizure and nmay be introduced

into evidence." Harris v. United States, 390 U. S. 234, 236, 88

S.Ct. 992, 993, 19 L.Ed.2d 1067 (1968). The white bricks of
cocai ne seized from Alnestica's Chevrolet were in the police's
plain view at the tinme of Alnestica's arrest and the search of his
vehi cl e. The bl ack bag containing the cocai ne was unzi pped and
sitting on the floor board of the back seat when the police
apprehended Al nestica. Thus, no warrant was necessary to conduct
a lawful search and seizure in this instance.

Finally, Al nestica argues that there were no exigent
circunstances that justified a warrantl ess search. Because the car
was searched and t he evi dence was sei zed pursuant to a | awful stop,
we need not address this issue at |ength. W find Alnestica's
argunents on this issue to be without nerit. W, therefore, hold
that the district court properly denied Al nestica's notion to
suppr ess.

B
The def endants next chall enge the sufficiency of the evidence

establishing their guilt. W hold that this challenge is w thout



merit and hereby affirm the district court's judgnents of
convi ction on each of the defendants' charges. It is clear fromthe
facts that both of these individuals aided, abetted, and conspired
to distribute greater than five kil ograns of cocaine. Because of
t he overwhel m ng wei ght of evi dence, we need not reach the question
of the standard of review on the issue of sufficiency of the
evidence to uphold the verdict. The evidence--as set out earlier
in this opinion--is anple under any standard to connect each
defendant to the crines charged beyond a reasonabl e doubt.
C

Finally, we hold that the sentences were appropriately
enhanced to account for the defendants' m srepresentations of their
identities throughout the trial. Both defendants admtted during
interviews by the probation officers that prior to sentencing they
had been usi ng assuned nanes. Real-Garcia's real nanme was Servando
De La Cruz, and Alnestica's real nane was Viterbo Cedeno- Al f onso.

The district court increased Real-Garcia's and Al nestica's
of fense levels by two points each for this conduct. The district
court found that their failure to reveal their true identities
constituted an obstruction of justice because this deception
inpeded the investigation and "providied] materially false
information to a judge or nmgistrate." UuSSG § 3CL1
comentary (n.3(f)).

We reviewthe district court's determ nation of fact for clear

error and its interpretation of the Sentencing Gui delines de novo.

-10-



United States v. Rodriquez, 942 F.2d 899, 901 (5th Cr. 1991),

cert. denied, us _ , 112 S.C. 990, 117 L.Ed.2d 151 (1992).

We find no clear error in the district court's determ nation of
fact. The defendants cannot deny that they used false identities
t hroughout the trial. Furthernore, the district court did not err
when it found that the defendants' m srepresentations inpeded the
i nvesti gati on. The defendants' use of false nanmes slowed the
i nvestigation because the authorities were required to deci pher a
maze of aliases and codes in order to link the defendants to each
other. The false identities also hindered | aw enforcenent's search
for previous crimnal conduct by these defendants.

Areviewof the record al so shows that the defendants provided
materially false information to the nmagi strate judges and district
judges in violation of the Sentencing Cuidelines. Al t hough the
def endant s argued that the i nformati on was not materi al because the
proper defendants were in custody, the district court concluded
that the giving of false nanes was material. The district court
reasoned that the defendants had the duty and responsibility to
reveal their true identities. Furthernore, the court noted that
t he defendants used the nanmes of actual persons living in Puerto
Ri co, which nade the m srepresentation even nore material because
an i nnocent person could be linked with the judgnent. W agree.

Since we find no error in the district court's application of

the Sentencing Cuidelines, we affirm each sentence.
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111
For the above stated reasons, the judgnment of the district
court is

AFFI RMED
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